Dynamic and Structural Properties of Sphingolipids as Driving Forces for the Formation of Membrane Domains

Sandro Sonnino,* Alessandro Prinetti, Laura Mauri, Vanna Chigorno, and Guido Tettamanti

Center of Excellence on Neurodegenerative Diseases, Department of Medical Chemistry, Biochemistry and Biotechnology, University of Milan, 20090 Segrate (MI), Italy

Received June 27, 2005

Contents

1. Introduction	2111
2. Membrane Lipids	2112
3. Membrane Lipid Domains	2113
3.1. Artificial Membranes	2114
3.2. Natural Membranes	2116
4. The Driving Forces Leading to Lipid Segregation	2118
4.1. The Lipid Transition Temperature	2118
4.2. The Hydrophilic Head Group of	2119
4.3. Side-by-Side Oligosaccharide Interactions and the Carbohydrate Water Shell	2122
 The Hydrogen Bond Network at the Lipid–Water Interface 	2122
5. Conclusions	2123
6. Acknowledgment	2123
7. References	2123

1. Introduction

In 1972, S. J. Singer and G. L. Nicolson,¹ introducing the fluid mosaic model for the structure of cell membranes. reported on experimental data suggesting that some proteins aggregated in clusters under certain conditions. Then, investigations carried out in either artificial or cellular models using a variety of techniques suggested that organization in domains, whose properties are based on their peculiar lipid composition ("cholesterol-", "ceramide-", "glycolipid-", or "sphingolipid-"enriched membrane domains), might be a common feature of biological membranes. Currently, several authors accept as a working hypothesis that macro- and microdomains with molecular composition and physicochemical properties distinct from the surrounding membrane environment exist. However, most experimental evidence supporting this hypothesis is indirect (e.g., the study of detergent-insoluble membrane preparations) or in some aspects controversial (e.g., the size and lifetime of lipid-enriched membrane domains, the existence of heterogeneous membrane domain subpopulations), and the actual existence of lipid domains in cellular membranes is still strongly debated.² Indeed, the control of the localization and function of proteins that are components of signaling pathways regulated by the T-cell antigen receptor (TCR) is probably one of the biological events where the putative role of lipid-enriched membrane domains met the strongest consensus. In a Medline search, 215 papers dealing with this topic published from 1996 were found.3 However, even this notion was recently challenged



Sandro Sonnino, born in 1949, obtained at the University of Milan the M.S. Degree in Chemistry in 1973. He became Professor of Biochemistry at the School of Medicine, University of Milan, in 1990, where he is now. His scientific activity is all related to studies on sphingolipids. He has solved the primary structure of 11 glycosphingolipids and has studied the conformational, dynamic, geometrical, and aggregative properties of the main gangliosides from the nervous system, the role of gangliosides in the organization of sphingolipid-enriched membrane microdomains, the interaction processes between gangliosides and soluble or membrane proteins, and the metabolism and trafficking of gangliosides and their catabolites. He is Responsible for the "Glycobiology" group of the Italian Society of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology.



Alessandro Prinetti, born in 1965, obtained at the University of Milan the M.S. Degree in Pharmaceutical Chemistry in 1992 and the Ph.D. in Biochemistry in 1997. He became associate Professor in 2002 at the School of Medicine, University of Milan, where he is now. His main research topics were and are sphingolipid patterns and metabolism in neural cells during development and differentiation, the functional role of sphingolipid molecules in the control of growth and differentiation of neural cells, the structure of sphingolipid-enriched membrane domains and their functional role in neural cell signaling, and the interaction between sphingolipids and Src family proteins.

^{*} Corresponding author. Mailing address Via Fratelli Cervi 93, 20090 Segrate (MI), Italy; fax +390250330365; e-mail Sandro.Sonnino@unimi.it.



Laura Mauri, born in 1970, obtained at the University of Milan the M.S. Degree in Chemistry in 1999 and the Ph.D. in Biochemistry in 2003. She became Researcher at the School of Medicine, University of Milan, in 2005, where she is now. She is developing studies on the chemistry of gangliosides.



Vanna Chigorno, born in 1949, obtained the M.S. degree in Biological Sciences in 1973 at the University of Milan and the Ph.D. in Applied Biology in 1982 at the University of Milano. She became Professor of Clinical Biochemistry at the Medical School of the University of Milan in 2001, where she is now. She developed research in the field of ganglioside biochemistry and is now mainly involved in researches in the field of ganglioside biomedicine. She is Responsible for the "Cell Cultures" study group of the Italian Society of Clinical Biochemistry and Clinical Molecular Biology.

by experimental proofs arguing against the involvement of lipid membrane domains in TCR signaling.^{4–6}

Thus, lipid-enriched membrane domains remain at least elusive, and even the forces that rule their basic organization, stability, and dynamics are only partly understood. Several topics related to this research area have been recently and extensively reviewed.⁶⁻⁵¹ In this review, we do not intend to report general information on lipid membrane domains, but we intend to focus on some features of membrane sphingolipids that should be involved in the generation of lipid domains, aiming to show that extensive literature references demonstrate the primary role of the peculiar chemico-physical features of this class of lipids as a driving force in determining the properties of lipid membrane domains.

The mysterious aspect of lipid membrane domains is probably not surprising if we recall that sphingolipids, key components of lipid membrane domains together with cholesterol, associate their name with the enigma of the Sphinx.⁵² Research on sphingolipids was introduced at the end of the nineteenth century by J. L. W. Thudichum, who



Guido Tettamanti, born in 1935, obtained the M.D. degree at the University of Pavia in 1960 and then the Ph.D. in Biochemistry in 1966. He became Professor of Medical Biochemistry at the Medical School of the University of Milan in 1975. He introduced in Italy research on gangliosides and organized the first group of scientists, chemists, physics, physicians, biologists, and biochemists all involved in the same project on the functional role of gangliosides. Organizer of many International Conferences in the field of gangliosides, he was Chairman of the Gordon Research Conference "Glycolipid and Sphingolipid Biology", Il Ciocco, Italy, 2000, and of the XVIII International Symposium on Glycoconjugates, Florence, Italy, 2005.

reported for the first time on the isolation of unknown compounds from human brain, whose structure had been enigmatic to him for a long time, before getting resolved. These compounds were then characterized to be cerebrosides, that is, monoglycosylceramides. Even if the newborn chemistry of sphingolipids attracted the attention of several investigators, progress in this field was extremely slow,⁵³ and the correct structure of sphingosine⁵⁴ was established only after half a century.

2. Membrane Lipids

The two highly heterogeneous groups of glycerophospholipids (1) and of sphingolipids (2) are, together with choles-



terol (3), the main lipid components of cell membranes. Glycerophospholipids are by far the main lipids of eukaryotic cell membranes. Sphingolipids are minor cell components, mainly residing in the external layer of the plasma membrane⁵⁵ with the hydrophilic headgroup protruding toward the extracellular environment. Many reports indicated multiple functional roles for membrane sphingolipids, including the modulation of the properties of important membrane enzymes.56-72



Table 1. Structures of the Main Neutral Glycosphingolipids in Vertebrates^a

series	abbreviation	structure
	GalCer	β -Gal-(1-1)-Cer
	GlcCer	β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
	LacCer	β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
ganglio-3	Gg ₃ Cer	β -GalNAc-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
ganglio-4	Gg ₄ Cer	β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
ganglio-5	Gg ₅ Cer	β -GalNAc-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
globo-3	Gb ₃ Cer	α -Gal-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
globo-4	Gb ₄ Cer	β -GalNAc-(1-3)- α -Gal-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
globo-5	Gb ₅ Cer	β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc-(1-3)- α -Gal-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
isoglobo-3	iGb ₃ Cer	α -Gal-(1-3)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
lacto (paraglobo)	Lc ₄ Cer	β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GlcNAc-(1-3)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
neolacto-4	nLc ₄ Cer	β -Gal-(1-4)- β -GlcNAc-(1-3)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
neolacto-6	nLc ₆ Cer	$\beta\text{-}Gal-(1-4)-\beta\text{-}GlcNAc-(1-3)-\beta\text{-}Gal-(1-4)-\beta\text{-}GlcNAc-(1-3)-\beta\text{-}Gal-(1-4)-\beta\text{-}Glc-(1-1)-Cer$

^a Nomenclature is according to Svennerholm and the IUPAC-IUB indications.²⁵⁴⁻²⁵⁵



The lipid moiety of sphingolipids, **2**, is named ceramide. Ceramide is constituted by a long chain amino alcohol,⁷³ 2-amino-1,3-dihydroxy-octadec-4-ene, whose trivial name is sphingosine, connected to a fatty acid by an amide linkage. Of the four possible configurations of sphingosine, only the 2S,3R is present in nature.^{54,74} The same trivial name is used also for structures with shorter and longer alkyl chains and for structures lacking the double bond (whose trivial name should be more properly sphinganine).

The hydrophilic headgroup R of sphingolipids is phosphocholine in the case of sphingomyelin, 4, or an oligosac-



charide chain. When the oligosaccharide chain carries residues of sialic acid⁷⁵ (or neuraminic acid, the trivial names used for the derivatives of 5-amino-3,5-dideoxy-D-*glycero*-D-*galacto*-non-2-ulopyranosonic acid), the glycosphingo-lipid is named ganglioside. The three most represented structures of sialic acid are the 5-*N*-acetyl- (**5**), the 5-*N*-acetyl-9-*O*-acetyl- (**6**), and the 5-*N*-glycolyl- (**7**) derivatives, but the latter is absent in normal human tissues.^{76,77} In humans, about 10% of the total ganglioside-bound sialic acid is the 9-*O*-acetyl-*N*-acetylneuraminic acid,⁷⁷ and polysialogangliosides that contains this structure have been characterized in mice brains.^{78,79} Ester linkages in polysialyl chains containing compounds such as **8** have been also characterized.⁸⁰



Tables 1, 2, and 3 show the main oligosaccharide structures grouped for neutral glycolipids, gangliosides, and sulfogly-colipids, respectively.



3. Membrane Lipid Domains

The interest in membrane lipid domains, that is, in zones of the membrane with a peculiar lipid composition, different

Table 2. Structures of the Main Gangliosides of the Nervous System^a

·	
GM4	Neu5AcGalCer
GM3	II ³ Neu5AcLacCer
GD3	II ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ LacCer
O-acetyl-GD3	II ³ [Neu5,9Ac ₂ -(2-8)-Neu5Ac]LacCer
GM2	II ³ Neu5AcGg ₃ Cer
GD2	II ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₃ Cer
GM1	II ³ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
GM1b	IV ³ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
Fuc-GM1	IV ² αFucII ³ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
GalNAc-GM1	II ³ Neu5AcGg ₅ Cer
3'-LM1	IV ³ nLc ₄ Cer
GD1a	IV ³ Neu5AcII ³ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
GD1a	IV ³ Neu5AcIII ⁶ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
GalNAc-GD1a	IV ³ Neu5AcII ³ Neu5AcGg ₅ Cer
GD1b	II ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
GD1b-lactone	II ³ [Neu5Ac-(2-8,1-9)-Neu5Ac]Gg ₄ Cer
Fuc-GD1b	IV ² αFucII ³ Neu5Ac ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
GT1a	IV ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ II ³ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
GT1b	IV ³ Neu5AcII ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
O-acetyl-GT1b	IV ³ Neu5AcII ³ [Neu5,9Ac ₂ -(2-8)-Neu5Ac]Gg ₄ Cer
GT1c	II ³ (Neu5Ac) ₃ Gg ₄ Cer
Chol-1α-a	IV ³ Neu5AcIII ⁶ Neu5AcII ³ Neu5AcGg ₄ Cer
Chol-1 β	III ⁶ Neu5AcII ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
GT1a	IV ³ Neu5AcIII ⁶ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
GQ1b	IV ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ II ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
GQ1c	IV ³ Neu5AcII ³ (Neu5Ac) ₃ Gg ₄ Cer
GQ1a	IV ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ III ⁶ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
Chol-1a-b	IV ³ Neu5AcIII ⁶ Neu5AcII ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ Gg ₄ Cer
GP1c	IV ³ (Neu5Ac) ₂ II ³ (Neu5Ac) ₃ Gg ₄ Cer
	-

^{*a*} Sialic acid in gangliosides is only in configuration α . Chetosidic linkage to sialic acid is always 2 \rightarrow 8. The roman numeral identifies the sugar unit, starting from ceramide, to which sialic acid, the sialosyl chain, is linked; the superscript Arabic number identifies its linkage position.

from that of the majority of bilayer, became very strong during the last 15 years, when many proteins assigned to cell signaling were found to be preferentially associated with an environment of lipids highly enriched in sphingolipids and cholesterol. A possible role for lipid domains in the transport of glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins from the Golgi apparatus to the apical plasma membrane of polarized cells was also suggested; hence, the use of the term "lipid rafts" to define these domains.⁸¹

Biochemical studies on cell membrane lipid domain composition, organization, and biological role were carried out mainly starting from 1992, when a method capable of separating them from total cell membranes became available.⁸² However, massive biophysical work on artificial membranes was carried out from the 1970s to understand the basis of the organization of amphiphilic compounds within biological membranes, leading to establishment of the existence of segregation phenomena.

Today, different terms are used throughout the literature to define lipid membrane domains. Every one of them implies a form of segregation of certain components within the cell membrane. Some define specific domains, as in the case of "caveolae", membrane invaginations containing the protein caveolin,⁸³ or "lipid rafts", membrane domains that sort or transport proteins inside cells. Others define membrane portions on the basis of chemico-physical or compositional features, such as "DIM" (detergent-insoluble material),⁸⁴ "DISAM" (detergent-insoluble substrate attachment matrix),⁸⁴ "DIG" (detergent-resistant membranes),⁸⁶ "SEMF" (sphingolipid-enriched membrane fraction),⁸⁷ "GSD" (glyco signaling domains),⁸⁸ etc. To these authors, DRM is a very reasonable definition, based on the operational way commonly used to obtain biochemical preparation enriched in lipid membrane domains, which is based on their relative insolubility in nonionic detergents under specific experimental conditions.

3.1. Artificial Membranes

The earliest evidence supporting the existence of lipid domains, conceived as areas in the membrane different in lipid composition from other areas in the membrane, was obtained studying artificial membrane models. The main experimental membrane model that has been exploited for these investigations is represented by phospholipid bilayers, usually in the form of glycerophospholipid vesicles or liposomes containing glycosphingolipids, sphingomyelin, ceramide, or cholesterol. Valuable pieces of information were also obtained from different artificial membrane models, including sphingolipid micelles, phospholipid bilayers on solid support, and lipid monolayers on an air/water interface or on solid support. Very heterogeneous analytical techniques are suitable for each of these models, contributing to the difficulty sometimes encountered in comparing and generalizing the results obtained by specific experimental approaches.

Lipid bilayers usually exist in an ordered gel phase at low temperatures. Above a melting temperature (T_m) characteristic of each molecular species of lipid, the bilayer is present in the so-called liquid-crystalline (lc) or liquid-disordered (ld) phase, in which the lipid acyl chains are disordered and characterized by high fluidity. Membrane lipids can also exist in a third physical phase, the liquid-ordered (lo) phase. Acyl chains of lipids in the lo phase have properties that are intermediate between those of the gel and ld phases. They are extended and ordered, as in the gel phase but have high lateral mobility in the bilayer, as in the ld phase.⁸⁹ The coexistence of lipids in different phases within the same model membrane was probably the first evidence leading to the concept of lipid domains. Incomplete miscibility within a single phase, leading to lateral phase separation of complex lipids in phospholipid bilayers has been extensively studied by X-ray diffraction,^{90,91} differential scanning calorimetry (DSC),^{90,93-100} freeze-etch electron microscopy (EM),^{91,101-105} spontaneous interbilayer transfer rate measurements,¹⁰⁶ conductance measurements,¹⁰⁷ electron spin resonance (ESR),^{91,108} fluorescence microscopy,¹⁰⁹ fluorescence correlation spectroscopy,¹¹⁰ fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET)¹¹¹ and fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP),¹¹²⁻¹¹⁵ and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR).^{116,117}

Lateral phase separation is a feature not restricted to sphingolipids. Indeed phase separation can be observed in binary mixtures of dialkyl lecithins differing in chain length or saturation^{101,118,119} and in ternary mixtures of palmitoyloleyl phosphatidylcholine (PC), dioleyl PC, and cholesterol.¹⁰⁹ However, in the case of glycosphingolipids, their unique molecular structure and conformational properties suggested a strong tendency to form segregated compositional domains in phospholipid bilayers. Starting from the early 1980s, this was clearly shown for a number of neutral glycosphingolipid molecular species,¹²⁰ including synthetic galactosyl(N-palmitoyl)sphingosine⁹¹ and bovine brain galactosylceramide,¹²¹ synthetic glucosyl(N-palmitoyl)sphingosine¹²² and Gaucher spleen glucosylceramide,^{92,106,107,123} globoside,⁹¹ and asialo GM1.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³ Similar results were obtained for charged glycosphingolipids such as sulfati-

Table 3. Sruc	ture of the	Main	Sulfatides
---------------	-------------	------	------------

SM4s	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -Gal-(1-1)-Cer
SM4s-6	$^{-}O_{3}S-6-\beta$ -Gal-(1-1)-Cer
SM4s-Glc	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
SM3	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -Gal- $(1-4)-\beta$ -Glc- $(1-1)$ -Cer
SM2a	β -GalNAc-(1-4)-[$^{-}O_{3}S$ -3-]- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
SM2b	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -GalNAc- $(1-4)-\beta$ -Gal- $(1-4)-\beta$ -Glc- $(1-1)$ -Cer
SB1a	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta-Gal-(1-3)-\beta-GalNAc-(1-4)-[^{-}O_{3}S-3-]-\beta-Gal-(1-4)-\beta-Glc-(1-1)-Cer$
SMGb ₄	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -GalNAc-(1-3)- α -Gal-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
SMGb ₅	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc-(1-3)- α -Gal-(1-4)- β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -Gal- $(1-3)-\beta$ -GalNAc- $(1-4)-[\alpha$ -Neu5Gc- $(2-3)-]-\beta$ -Gal- $(1-4)-\beta$ -Glc- $(1-1)$ -Cer
SMUnLc ₄ Cer	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta$ -GlcU-(1-3)- β -GlcI(1-4)- β -GlcNAc-(1-3)- β -Glc-(1-4)- β -Glc-(1-1)-Cer
SMUnLc ₆ Cer	$^{-}O_{3}S-3-\beta-GlcU-(1-3)-\beta-Gal-(1-4)-\beta-GlcNAc-(1-3)-\beta-Gal-(1-4)-\beta-GlcNAc-(1-3)-\beta-Gal-(1-4)-\beta-Glc-(1-1)-Cer$

des.^{93,108} Much more controversial appeared the situation for gangliosides, which are unique among glycosphingolipids for their aggregative properties in aqueous solutions.¹²⁴ Pioneering work using spin-label probes^{125,126} showed that gangliosides, even at low concentration, reduced fluidity and hydrocarbon chain mobility in phosphatidylcholine bilayers, due to lateral cooperative interactions between ganglioside molecules. This behavior has been interpreted in the sense of a tendency of gangliosides to form "clusters" in fluid lipid bilayers, that is, lipid domains, and attracted very much attention for its possible biological relevance in determining ganglioside functions.^{126,127} Ca²⁺ addition caused a further decrease of membrane fluidity, suggesting that interactions involving ganglioside headgroups could be the driving force for ganglioside phase separation.¹²⁶ These results were apparently challenged by other studies indicating that at low concentration of gangliosides these components are dispersed in phosphatidylcholine bilayers.^{128–132} EM analysis coupled with labeling with cholera toxin or specific IgG and Fab fragments showed that GM1 ganglioside and the neutral Forssman glycosphingolipid are randomly distributed in phospholipid bilayers, whereas the neutral glycosphingolipid asialo-GM1 is present in microdomains of about 16 molecules.103,104,133,134 When similar studies were performed using multilamellar liposomes composed of 1:1 dielaidoylphosphatidylcholine/dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine, which exhibit laterally separated fluid- and gel-phase regions (an artificial model more closely simulating the situation in biological membranes, where the membrane contains more than one species of phospholipid), incorporating minor amounts of different glycosphingolipids, it has been shown that ganglioside GM1 and its neutral derivative asialo-GM1 distribute preferentially into gel-phase regions, whereas Forssman glycolipid distributes evenly in the two phases.¹⁰¹ This observation suggested that the contrast in behavior between these lipids could be ascribed to the differences in the hydrophobic moieties (i.e., in the acyl chain composition). These issues could be properly addressed thanks to the availability of semisynthetic ganglioside species differing in ceramide acyl chain length, degree of saturation, and nature of the sphingoid base.¹³⁵ The preparation and use of liposomes for the study of sphingolipid segregation in membrane model systems^{136,137} unambiguously showed the following: (1) Ganglioside phase separation occurs in twocomponent, two-phase, as well as in one component, phosphatidylcholine bilayers.^{94–97,105,138,139} Interestingly, GM1enriched domains are also present in sphingomyelin bilayers.⁹⁹ (2) For a given oligosaccharide composition, the extent of ganglioside lateral phase separation depends on the length and unsaturation difference between the ganglioside longchain base and phosphatidylcholine acyl chains.94-96 (3) For GM1 species with homogeneous sphingoid base composition,

a decrease in the acyl chain length or an increase in its unsaturation induced increased ganglioside distribution in the liquid phase of the bilayer.¹⁰⁵ (4) For a given lipid moiety composition, the extent of ganglioside phase separation is dependent upon the number of sugars in the oligosaccharide headgroup.^{95,96} (5) The addition of Ca²⁺ promotes phase separation.¹²⁶ This is not due to a Ca²⁺-induced bridging between ganglioside headgroups but rather to a passive ganglioside exclusion from phosphatidylcholine-rich regions of the bilayer, which are perturbed by Ca²⁺.^{94,96}

At the end of the 1980s, the discovery that ceramide could represent an important cell mediator in a rapidly growing number of different physiological, pharmacological, and pathological situations shifted at least in part the interest of researchers from glycosphingolipids toward simpler sphingoid molecules and sphingomyelin as a possible source for those molecules. Not surprisingly, the ability to undergo lateral phase separation in phospholipid vesicles proved to be not restricted to glycosphingolipids. Sphingomyelin undergoes lateral phase separation in dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine bilayers, depending on the degree of sphingomyelin chain mismatch:¹⁴⁰ the segregation tendency is very poor for N-palmitoyl-sphingomyelin^{112,140} but is clear for sphingomyelin with a C24 acyl chain.¹⁴⁰ Lateral separation of ceramide-rich phases in phospholipid bilayers with as little as <5 mol % ceramide was observed for natural ceramides from different sources and for N-palmitoyl-ceramide.^{100,112,141,142} When the behavior of N-palmitoyl-sphingomyelin and Npalmitoyl-ceramide in 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-phosphatidylcholine liposomes was compared, ceramide showed a much more pronounced tendency to undergo lateral phase separation, suggesting that the enzymatic conversion of sphingomyelin to ceramide at the cell surface could be responsible for a membrane reorganization with formation of ceramiderich membrane domains.^{100,112}

The success of these experimental approaches stimulated their use to address more complex situations, such as the behavior of phospholipid bilayers in the presence of cholesterol or sphingomyelin, with or without gangliosides. These models seem closer to a natural cell membrane and allow the study of the reciprocal interactions of lipids that are normally colocalized in biochemical membrane preparations putatively containing natural lipid membrane domains (see section 3.2). The study of miscibility phase diagrams of giant vesicles containing sphingomyelin (SM), unsaturated PC (either palmitoyloleylPC or dioleylPC), and cholesterol suggested the coexistence of solid, liquid-ordered, and liquiddisordered phases in ternary mixtures both in the presence and in the absence of SM.¹⁰⁹ Cholesterol by itself forms a cholesterol-rich liquid-ordered phase and a phosphatidylcholine-rich liquid-disordered phase when present in the molar range of 5-25% in phosphatidylcholine bilayers¹⁴³ and a cholesterol-enriched phase in palmitoylsphingomyelin vesicles.⁹⁹ Similar cholesterol-rich ordered liquid phases were formed in phospholipid bilayers in the presence of sphingomyelin, which mixes more ideally with cholesterol than a phosphatidylcholine with the same acyl chain.^{98,144} Recent studies with fluorescent lipid derivatives highlighted the importance of the hydrophobic mismatch of the constituents for the colocalization of cholesterol and sphingomyelin in a phospholipid bilayer,¹¹³ arguing against the supposed existence of a specific interaction between cholesterol and sphingomyelin (see, for example, ref 145, and further discussion below). When ternary sphingomyelin/GM1/ cholesterol vesicles were analyzed by DSC, the formation of separate GM1-enriched and cholesterol-enriched domains was shown.⁹⁹

More recently, complex liposomes composed of glycerophospholipids, sphingomyelin, and cholesterol were used to study the dynamics of changes in lateral phase separation occurring upon modification of the sphingomyelin/ceramide content or ratio by addition of ceramide to preformed liposomes or enzymatic hydrolysis of sphingomyelin. The results of these works showed that increased amounts of ceramide in liposomes induce dramatic changes in the bilayer organization, possibly as a consequence of the lateral phase separation of ceramide-rich domains.^{114,146,147}

As mentioned above, gangliosides have unique aggregative properties, and in diluted aqueous solution, they generally form micelles of large molecular weight.¹²⁴ This feature allowed attainment of further information about the lateral segregation of gangliosides using mixed micellar systems, which can be conveniently studied by laser light scattering. In mixed micelles of two gangliosides, GM2 and GT1b, characterized by similar hydrophobic moiety composition and very different hydrophilic headgroups, GT1b and GM2 monomers are not randomly distributed in the micelle.¹⁴⁸ The segregation of one ganglioside with respect to the other in this artificial system is a spontaneous process explained on the basis of the different geometrical properties of ganglioside headgroups. A similar segregation as well due to the geometrical differences between these two gangliosides was shown in mixed micelles of GD1b and GD1b-lactone.¹⁴⁹

Monomolecular lipid films ("monolayer membranes") at the air/water interface have been used in particular to study the lateral domain formation ability of cholesterol in phospholipid membranes and the role of sphingomyelincholesterol interactions in the formation of segregated compositional lipid domains. The properties of lipid monolayers can be studied by measuring physico-chemical parameters such as surface pressure and molecular areas^{150–153} or by fluorescence microscopy.¹⁵⁴⁻¹⁵⁷ Several studies indicated that cholesterol preferentially interacts with sphingo-myelin in mixed monolayers.^{150–156,158,159} This interaction occurs independently from the acyl chain length of sphingomyelin^{152,158} but was lower in the presence of a cisunsaturation.^{99,101,104} The apparent strong interaction between cholesterol and sphingomyelin would be the main one responsible for the formation of liquid-condensed lateral cholesterol- and sphingomyelin-rich domains, which can very efficiently incorporate GM1 at low concentration^{156,160} and are resistant to Triton X-100 solubilization^{152,153} as are DRM in natural membranes. However, as mentioned before, a recent paper challenged this concept,¹¹³ showing that in phospholipid bilayers there is no evidence of such a specific interaction between cholesterol and sphingomyelin.

An interesting recent evolution of membrane models for the study of lipid lateral segregation is represented by the use of solid-supported lipid mono- or bilayers. The properties of putative DRMs reconstituted on Langmuir monolavers transferred from the air-water interface to a silanized glass support have been studied using fluorescence microscopy.¹¹⁵ Lipid monolayers prepared from mixtures of synthetic lipids as well as by natural cell lipid extracts undergo spontaneous phase separation with the formation of a cholesterol- and GM1-enriched liquid-ordered phase. Cholesterol density can be manipulated in this membrane model by treatment with cyclodextrins, allowing the conclusion that cholesterol density is a critical parameter for the existence of lateral lipid domains. This model is very appealing because its composition can be chosen to approximate very well the cell lipid composition, it can be manipulated quite conveniently, and it is possible to complicate it by the addition of proteins whose partition into the lateral lipid domains can be easily studied. However, possibly the most promising application of solid-supported lipid mono-161-163 and bilayers 164-169 is represented by their coupling with atom force microscopy (AFM).161-170 AFM on such artificial membranes indeed largely confirmed the results obtained using different membrane models. However, the advantages of this technique are represented by the possibility to investigate the properties of very complex lipid mixtures, also including proteins.¹⁶⁷ The lipid composition of the artificial membrane can be easily manipulated and analyzed in real time¹⁶³ with a power of resolution in the submicrometer range.^{161,164} Thus, these model systems seem to be adequate to study the up-to-now highly controversial size and time scales of lipid domains, an issue that probably represents the next challenge in the study of lipid domains.

3.2. Natural Membranes

The existence of lipid membrane domains in natural cell membranes was suggested by the observation that glycosphingolipids at the cell surface form clusters, which have been visualized by immuno-electron microscopy using anti-glycosphingolipid antibodies.¹⁷¹ Glycosphingolipid clustering in cell membranes was shown for globoside in human erythrocytes,¹⁷² polysialogangliosides in fish brain neurons,¹⁷³ GM3 ganglioside in peripheral human lymphocytes, and Molt-4 lymphoid cells.¹⁷⁴ Several approaches, relying on more advanced technologies, are now available allowing the detection and the study of membrane lipid domains in intact cell membranes.^{22,23}

These techniques are very heterogeneous and include single-particle tracking or single-fluorophore tracking microscopy,^{175–177} fluorescence recovery after photobleaching,¹⁷⁸ fluorescence resonance energy transfer,¹⁷⁹ and atom force microscopy,¹⁸⁰ and data obtained with different approaches are sometime conflicting. As an example, there is no agreement on their average size, which ranges from 26 nm to about 2 μ m.^{177–181} In addition, from these data no information on what composes the lipid domains can be inferred.

Compositional information for membrane lipid domains is largely obtained by means of the procedure published by Brown and Rose,⁸² based on the insolubility in aqueous nonionic detergents of those cell lipids (including cholesterol, sphingolipids, and saturated PC) that in membrane models tend to segregate into a liquid-ordered phase. All the complex amphiphilic compounds that are components of cell mem-

Table 4. Composition of the Membrane Fraction Containing Lipid Domains (LD) and of the Cell Homogenate from Undifferentiated, Differentiated, and Aged Rat Cerebellar Granule Cells in Culture (2nd, 8th, and 17th Day in Culture (DIC), Respectively)^a

	lipid domain fraction (nmol/10 ⁶ cells) DIC		cell (nn	cell homogenate (nmol/10 ⁶ cells) DIC			lipid domain fraction (% on all components) DIC			cell homogenate (% on all components) DIC		
	2nd	8th	17th	2nd	8th	17th	2nd	8th	17th	2nd	8th	17th
proteins	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.44	1.25	1.43	0.1	0.3	0.3	2.8	2.9	2.5
ceramide	0.02	0.11	0.17	0.04	0.22	0.34	1.0	1.5	1.5	0.2	0.5	0.6
sphingomyelin	0.13	0.67	0.63	0.26	1.00	1.05	8.3	9.4	5.7	1.6	2.3	1.8
gangliosides	0.04	0.47	0.43	0.07	0.79	1.02	2.2	6.6	3.9	0.5	1.8	1.8
GM3	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b
GM1	0.001	0.04	0.02	0.003	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.56	0.18	0.02	0.14	0.09
GD3	0.004	0.02	0.02	0.011	0.04	0.04	0.22	0.28	0.18	0.08	0.09	0.07
GD1a	0.013	0.11	0.12	0.020	0.21	0.26	0.71	1.54	1.09	0.14	0.48	0.46
GD1b	0.005	0.05	0.04	0.009	0.09	0.10	0.27	0.72	0.36	0.06	0.20	0.18
O-Ac-GT1b	0.002	0.06	0.03	0.003	0.08	0.09	0.11	0.84	0.27	0.02	0.18	0.16
GT1b	0.007	0.17	0.12	0.025	0.26	0.32	0.38	2.39	1.09	0.18	0.59	0.56
O-Ac-GQ1b	b	b	b	0.001	0.01	0.01	b	b	b	0.01	0.03	0.02
GQ1b	0.001	0.02	0.01	0.002	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.28	0.09	0.01	0.06	0.05
cholesterol	0.70	1.91	1.71	2.77	4.80	5.02	44.2	26.8	15.5	17.4	11.2	8.7
glycerolipids	0.77	4.07	9.03	12.05	31.73	46.39	44.2	55.4	73.0	77.4	76.5	80.4
PE	0.02	0.35	2.12	2.47	6.64	12.30	2.6	8.6	23.5	20.5	20.9	26.5
PPE	0.02	0.05	0.50	0.45	4.13	3.20	2.6	1.2	5.5	3.7	13.2	6.9
PC	0.65	3.41	6.03	6.42	16.41	24.59	84.4	84.2	66.8	53.3	51.7	53.0
PPC	0.03	0.01	0.32	1.44	0.35	1.48	3.9	0.2	3.5	11.9	1.1	3.2
PS	0.04	0.18	b	0.75	2.59	3.28	5.2	4.4	b	6.2	8.2	7.1
PI	0.01	0.05	0.14	0.52	1.22	1.54	1.3	1.2	1.5	4.3	3.8	3.3
PPI	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b
PIP	b	0.01	b	b	0.15	b	b	0.2	b	b	0.5	b
PIP2	b	0.01	b	b	0.24	b	b	0.2	b	b	0.8	b

^a Reprinted in modified form with permission from refs 87 and 214. Copyright 2000 and 2001 American Society of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. ^b Traces or under detection.

branes and several intrinsic membrane proteins can be solubilized by detergents, due to the formation of mixed aggregates. But, under certain experimental conditions, where low temperature, detergent concentration, and detergent-tocell ratio seem the most critical parameters, a part of the cell membrane remains insoluble in the nonionic detergent Triton X-100. Other detergents were used and claimed to be not capable of solubilizing membrane lipid domains.^{182–186} After detergent treatment, the detergent-insoluble membrane fraction can be separated from the rest of the cell thanks to its relative light density (buoyancy),187-200,245 using continuous or discontinuous sucrose density gradients. The low density of the detergent-insoluble material is due to the high lipid-to-protein ratio in the fraction. Low-density, detergentinsoluble fractions were isolated from a wide variety of cultured cells, including almost all normal and pathological mammalian cell types investigated so far, as well as yeasts²⁰¹ and protozoans.²⁰² In a second time, reports on the isolation on this fraction from tissues appeared.²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁹

Membrane lipid domains contain all the cell complex lipids but are highly enriched in sphingolipids and cholesterol. Nevertheless, glycerophospholipids remain the bulk components, being enriched in phosphatidylcholine (PC) and PC being highly enriched in the dipalmitoyl species. These results were confirmed using other procedures where the detergent is substituted by high pH, hypertonic sodium carbonate,²¹⁰ or mechanical treatments (sonication under carefully controlled conditions),²¹¹ followed by density gradient centrifugation to recover the light fraction. The general agreement on the sphingolipid and cholesterol enrichment in the low-density membrane fraction obtained with the above procedures, that is, under different experimental conditions, would prove that the isolated lipid membrane domains are not the result of a random rearrangement of cell components induced by the treatment but are a

good mirror of an organization naturally occurring on the cell membranes. Of course, any change in the experimental conditions can yield quantitative changes of each component.

In Table 4, we report the composition of DRM prepared from neurons, rat cerebellar granule cells, at different stages of differentiation in culture. This, to the best of our knowledge, is the most detailed quantitative and qualitative composition of DRM.

Membrane lipid domains contain a small amount of proteins, in general, no more than 0.5-2.5% of total cell proteins. However, proteins that are involved in the process of transduction of the information throughout the cell plasma membrane (including receptor and nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinases, G protein coupled receptors, GTP binding proteins) result frequently enriched in the lipid domains.

Scientists are making every effort to isolate different membrane lipid domains from the DRM fraction. Immunoisolation procedures allowed fractionation of the DRM fraction into subpopulations with strikingly different structure and functions. Two membrane subfractions were separated from DRM isolated from B16 melanoma cells by anti-GM3 ganglioside monoclonal antibody DH2 and by anti-caveolin antibody.²¹² The anti-GM3 subfraction was enriched in GM3 and contained sphingomyelin, cholesterol, and proteins c-Src and Rho A but not caveolin, while the anti-caveolin subfraction contained caveolin, glucosylceramide, sphingomyelin, and a large amount of cholesterol, but not GM3, c-Src, or Rho A.²¹³ The GM3-enriched subfraction, but not the caveolar subfraction, was involved in cell adhesiondependent signal transduction in these cells. Two subpopulations, containing two functionally different neuronal GPIanchored proteins, Thy-1 and PrP,²⁰⁶ were separated from the detergent-resistant fraction isolated from mouse brain.

Immunoisolation approaches based on the use of different antibodies against protein or lipid components of the lipid

Table 5. Transition Temperature,	T_t (°C),	Hydrodynamic	Radius, R _i	ı (A), Axial	Ratio, R _a /R	b, and Molecula	ır Mass, <i>M</i> (kI	a), of the
Aggregates and Surface Area, a_0 (Å ²), of '	the Monomer in	Aggregate	a				

		$T_{\rm t}$						
	1	2	3		$R_{ m h}$	$R_{\rm a}/R_{\rm b}$	М	a_0
GlcCer from spleen	83.7							
LacCer from bovine adrenal medulla	74.4							
Gg ₃ Cer by hydrolysis of bovine brain GM2	60.8							
Gg ₄ Cer by hydrolysis of bovine brain GM1	54.0							
GM4 from bovine brain				vesicle	~ 300		18270	$\sim \! 80$
GM3 from bovine adrenal medulla	35.3							
GM3 from bovine brain				vesicle	~ 250		16700	$\sim \! 80$
GM2 from bovine brain	29.3			micelle	66.0	3.1	740	92.0
GM1 from bovine brain	19.3	19.7		micelle	58.7	2.3	470	95.4
GM1(d18:1,18:0) previously warmed at 60 °C		11.7		micelle	52.8			
GM1(d18:1,18:0) previously warmed at 40 °C		15.0		micelle	56.2			
GM1(d18:1,18:0) previously warmed at 25 °C		17.6		micelle	58.7			
GM1(d20:1,18:0) previously warmed at 60 °C		23.2		micelle				
FucGM1 from pig brain		13.2		micelle	61.0	2.1	394	97.8
FucGM1(d18:1,18:0) previously warmed at 60 °C		10.0		micelle				
FucGM1(d20:1,18:0) previously warmed at 60 °C		18.3		micelle				
GD1a from bovine brain	15.2	16.0		micelle	58.0	2.0	418	98.1
GD1a(d18:1,18:0) previously warmed at 60 °C		10.1		micelle				
GD1a(d20:1,18:0) previously warmed at 60 °C		19.2		micelle				
GalNAcGD1a from bovine brain				micelle	60.0		509	97.0
GD1b from bovine brain				micelle	52.0	1.8	311	100.8
GD1b-lactone synthesis from bovine brain GD1b				micelle	57.0	2.1	424	97.6
GT1b from bovine brain	7.3			micelle	53.2	1.8	378	100.8
SM from several sources			35.7 ± 5.8	vesicle				
^a Natural compounds have a heterogeneous ceramid	e moiety	. ^{216–219} R	eprinted in mod	ified form w	ith permissio	on from ref	f 124. Copy	right 1994

Elsevier.

membrane domain fraction might thus become the method of choice for the separation of lipid membrane domains, possibly overcoming some of the negative aspects of the classical density gradient flotation method after detergent lysis and allowing attainment of novel information about the properties of functionally and structurally different subpopulations of lipid membrane domains. The use of antibodies could however be responsible for artifactual clustering induced by antibody bridging or cross-linking; hence caution should be exerted also in this case.

4. The Driving Forces Leading to Lipid Segregation

Membrane lipid domains are highly enriched in sphingomyelin, glycosphingolipids, cholesterol, and dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine, one of the molecular species of phosphatidylcholine.²¹⁴ On the basis of the number of lipid molecule components of the detergent-resistant membrane fraction, they roughly should cover 10-20% of the cell surface.²¹⁴ On the other hand, lipid domains contain only 0.5-2.5% of the total cell proteins. Thus, even if specific interactions between proteins and lipids likely play a relevant role in the membrane domain organization, we can predict that lipid chemical and physico-chemical properties are the driving forces governing the membrane domain existence and organization. In the following paragraphs, we discuss transition temperature of membrane lipids, the hydrogen bond network at the lipid-water interface, the geometrical properties of hydrophilic headgroups of membrane lipids, the sideby-side oligosaccharide interactions, and the carbohydratewater interactions, as driving forces to segregation phenomena.

4.1. The Lipid Transition Temperature

Membrane complex lipids are highly heterogeneous in their lipid moieties. There are a large number of species

containing unsaturated alkyl chains. This it is believed to be an essential requirement to organize a dynamic membrane system that allows protein conformational changes and lipid organization changes. But, lipids with less fluid saturated chains are also membrane components. High transition temperature of the lipid chain of complex lipids should be one of the most important properties of the components belonging to the membrane lipid domains.¹⁷¹ In a membrane, lipids that contain saturated alkyl chains with higher transition temperatures are excluded from those that contain unsaturated chains with a lower transition temperature, sometimes below 0 °C, then organizing an ordered, less fluid, liquid phase. Phosphatidylcholine is the major membrane glycerophospholipid, present in a large number of molecular species, differing in the lipid moiety. Dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine is the main glycerolipid in DRM, and it is highly enriched in saturated species.^{214,215} Palmitic and stearic acid are very abundant in glycosphingolipids, and over 60% of total membrane glycosphingolipids are inside the lipid domain fractions, thus resulting in highly enriched fractions. Complex lipids containing palmitic acid are highly enriched in lipid domain fractions, so palmitic acid is the main complex lipid fatty acid of lipid domains.^{215,216} In this rigid environment, cholesterol, which alone has a melting point of 148.5 °C, would find a correct position.

The transition temperature of complex lipids does not necessarily correspond to the melting point of the lipid chains. This, in some cases, could introduce confusion. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) is used to determine the transition temperatures of complex lipids. But the value is strictly related to the type and size of aggregate formed in solution. Amphiphilic compounds form in solution aggregates of different type and size according to their geometrical properties, which are dependent on both the hydrophilic and hydrophobic moieties. These aggregates range from small, quite spherical micelles that are unfavor-



Figure 1. Differential scanning calorimetric runs for GM1 micelIar solutions. Dried GM1 was dissolved and maintained at 17, 30, 35, 40, 45, 50, and 60 °C. Analyses were from 2 °C and are displayed starting from the bottom with the solution at lower temperature. The interval between tics corresponds to 200 J/(mol K). Reprinted with permission from ref 217. Copyright 1999 American Chemical Society.

able to chain ordering to large vesicles that instead favor chain ordering (Table 5). Thus, differences in the complex lipid transition temperatures can be observed in the case of aggregates that can largely differ in curvature.²¹⁶⁻²¹⁹ GM1, which contains stearic acid and a sphingosine with 18 carbons, shows a transition temperature at 11.7 °C, which moves to 23.2 °C by addition of two carbons to the sphingosine. Stable removal of water from the hydrophilic head or changes of the oligosaccharide conformation by increasing temperature lead to changes of the surface area occupied by the monomer inserted into the aggregate with changes in surface curvature, that is, aggregate size.²¹⁶⁻²¹⁹ Thus, the same GM1 species shows a 5 °C decrease of the transition temperature when dissolved at 60 °C instead of 20 °C (see Table 4). In addition to this, in the case of gangliosides, two different transitions have been observed, 216-219 one related to the hydrophobic moiety and the other, at higher temperature, to the oligosaccharide chains. Figure 1 shows the differential scanning calorimetry behavior of GM1 with 36 carbons in the hydrophobic moiety dissolved at different temperatures each yielding a micelle of different size (see Table 5). It is also necessary to consider that when the complex lipid is not homogeneous in the lipid moiety, being a mixture of molecular species differing in lipid structure, frequently the multiple transitions are purely separated and are represented as a large broadened pick.

4.2. The Hydrophilic Head Group of Glycosphingolipids

As a first general consideration, clustering of some components in a membrane system is favored when the membrane lipids show large differences in the geometrical characteristics of their headgroups, clustering being a spontaneous process due to minimization of the interfacial free energy. This is the case for glycerophospholipids and glycosphingolipids, the latter having headgroups that are much more hydrophilic and much more protruding from the membrane surface. Moreover, glycosphingolipids are a very heterogeneous family of compounds with different content of sugar residues (see Tables 1-3), and with the progressive increase of the headgroup complexity, the molecules inside



Figure 2. MM2 minimum energy conformation of phosphocholine, 1, and minimum energy conformation of GM1 ganglioside, 2, from two view angles according to Acquotti et al.¹⁶⁶

the membrane require a progressively larger interfacial area to host the hydrophilic headgroup. Then, together with the chemical structure, the dynamic properties and hydration shell of the hydrophilic moiety participate to determine the size of the glycolipid headgroup. Figure 2 shows one of the minimum energy structures of ganglioside GM1,²²⁰ one of the main gangliosides of the nervous system, to compare the size of the carbohydrate chain to that of phosphocholine, the largest group of phospholipids. The large difference in size between glycosphingolipid and glycerolipid headgroups could be considered as a first driving force to the formation of segregation phenomena and of membrane lipid domains. Then these domains will act as a net to segregate cholesterol, which due to its strong hydrophobic character would highly reduce the membrane fluidity, thus creating an optimal zone to block functional proteins.

Within glycosphingolipids, gangliosides (Table 2) have been deeply studied for their geometrical (Table 5) and dynamic (Table 6) properties. Aggregates of natural gangliosides,¹²⁴ small aggregates of chemically modified gangliosides that contain a single hydrophobic chain,^{221,222} mixed aggregates of gangliosides and dodecylphosphocholine,^{220,223-226} monomeric gangliosides,^{222,225,227-232} and the free oligosaccharide chains²³³ have been used to reveal the relative values of the ganglioside interfacial areas and to suggest small conformational changes deriving from the dynamic properties of the ganglioside oligosaccharide chains. The larger the interfacial area, the more positive the membrane curvature is and the more pronounced the segregation is.

The innermost portion of the oligosaccharide chain of glycolipids is characterized by the disaccharide β -Gal-(1-4)- β -Glc, linked to ceramide, common to all glycolipids with the exclusion of galactosylceramide and GM4, two glycolipids enriched in the myelin.²³⁴ Several likely conform-

Table 6. Glycosidic Torsional Angles ϕ and ψ for Ganglioside Saccharide Sequences^a

			torsional angles ^b		
saccharide sequence	linkage	NOE interactions	ϕ	ψ	
Neu5Acα3Galβ3GalNAcβ	Neu5Ac-Gal	Gal3:Neu5Ac3ax	-160	-20	
		Gal3:Neu5AcOH8	-80	+10	
	Gal-GalNAc	Gal1:GalNAc2	+30	+14	
		Gal1:GalNAc4	+30	-20	
		Gal1:GalNAcNH			
GalNAc β 4(Neu5Ac α 3)Gal β	GalNAc-Gal	GalNAc1:Gal4	+30	+20	
		GalNAcNH:Gal2			
	Neu5Ac-Gal	Neu5Ac3ax:Gal3	-160	-20	
		GalNAc1:Neu5Ac8			
		GalNAc1:Neu5AcOH8			
		GalNAcOH6:Neu5AcOH9			
GalNAc β4(<i>Neu5A</i> cα8Neu5Acα3)Galβ	GalNAc-Gal	GalNAc1:Gal4	+40	+10	
	Neu5Ac-Gal	Neu5Ac3ax:Gal3	+175	+5	
		Neu5Ac3eq:GalNAc1			
		Neu5Ac3eq:GalNAc5			
	Neu5Ac-Neu5Ac	Neu5Ac3ax:Neu5Ac6			
		Neu5Ac6:Neu5Ac9a			
		Neu5Ac8:Neu5Ac9a			
		Neu5Ac3eq:Neu5Ac8	+90	+10	
Galβ4Glcβ	$Gal-Glc^b$	Gal1:Glc4	$+5 \rightarrow +55$	$-50 \rightarrow 0$	
		Gal1:Glc6'			
		Gal1:GlcOH3			
		GalOH2:Glc6'			
		GalOH2:Glc6			
		GalOH2:GlcOH3			
		GalOH2:GlcOH6			
		Gal6:GlcOH3			
Glc <i>β</i> 1Cer	Glc-Cer ^c	Glc1:Cer1	+13	+173	
		Glc1:Cer2			
		Glc1:Cer3			
		GlcOH2:CerNH			

^{*a*} Reprinted in modified form with permission from ref 124. Copyright 1994 Elsevier. ^{*b*} Linkage fluctuating in a large energy minimum valley with torsional angles ranging $(5 \rightarrow 55, -50 \rightarrow 0)$ embracing conformations 1 and 2 of Siebert et al.²²⁵ and conformations (55,0), (5,-30), and possibly (35,-50) of Acquotti et al.²²⁰ ^{*c*} Dihedral angles referred to the ²H NMR most likely structure of DTGL from Jarrell et al.²³⁶ This structure was considered by Aubin et al.²³⁸ in analyzing membrane GM3 structure.

ers with similar minimum energy could be predicted,^{220,225} but ¹³C T₁, T_{1r}, and ¹³C(¹H) NOE measurements²²³ suggest a reduced mobility for both linkages. The spatial arrangement of these linkages would be better described by fluctuations in a large energy minimum rather than by the sampling of different conformers with short lifetimes. A character of low motional freedom is expected for the Glc residue, fully extended away from the bilayer normal,235,236 due to the restriction of motion imposed on the saccharide-lipid linkage by the surrounding membrane surface.²³⁷ Glucose, likewise the lipidic portion inserted into the membrane, shows an averaging wobbling motion about the glucosidic bound, the director axis being the bilayer normal, yet the motional averaging effects seem not be large.²³⁸ Instead, in ganglioside GM3, where a sialic acid is linked to the lactose, the α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)- β -Gal linkage has been shown to be very mobile allowing the existence of, at least, two main conformations (Table 6).

In the more complex gangliosides of the ganglioseries such as GM2, GM1, GD1a, and GalNAc-GD1a, the trisaccharide sequence β -GalNAc-(1-4)[α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)-]- β -Gal, as a consequence of several interresidual interactions (Table 6 and Figure 3), is considered a very rigid superunit.^{220,223,224,226,231} Any interaction between the C7-C8-C9 side chain of sialic acid, which is in a rigid conformation,^{220,227,239,240} and *N*-acetylgalactosamine brings about a strong association between the Neu5Ac and GalNAc units, this association probably being stabilized by a hydrogen bond between the GalNAc amide proton and the Neu5Ac carboxyl group.²³² Figure 3 shows the three-dimensional representation of the β -GalNAc-(1-4)[α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)-]- β -Gal trisaccharide. In



Figure 3. Representation of the trisaccharide rigid unit GalNAc-(Neu5Ac-)Gal according to the torsional angles reported in Table 6.

contrast to this, the addition of galactose to hexosamine makes the disaccharide β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc very mobile, allowing the existence of, at least, two main conformations of the glycosidic linkage (Figure 4 and Table 6). Thus GM2, carrying only rigid linkages in the outer portion of the oligosaccharide chain, is present only in one preferred conformation, while GM1 carrying the external mobile linkage β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc is in two and GD1a carrying the external α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)- β -Gal-(1-3)- β -GalNAc is in four (Figure 4 and Table 6). According to the dynamic properties of the glycoside linkages, the ganglioside oligosaccharide moieties are coherently represented by a number of conformers that participate to determine the solid angle occupied by the different ganglioside monomers within Number of main conformers



Figure 4. Dynamics of the ganglioside glycosidic linkages as a function of the primary and secondary structure of gangliosides: (-) a single pair of torsional angles; (--) two pairs of torsional angles; (--) two p

the surface. It follows that the demand of volume to host the GM1 and GD1a oligosaccharide conformers becomes much higher than that expected to host the chain of GM2 plus one or two additional sugar units. Thus, in GalNAc-GD1a, the addition of a GalNAc to GD1a gives a second β -GalNAc-(1-4)[α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)-]- β -Gal fragment directly bound to the first one, thus reducing the number of conformers from four to two. The four GD1a conformers fill, all together, ca. 1.760 nm³, calculated as van der Waals sphere volume, vs ca. 1.420 nm³ occupied by the two GalNAc-GD1a conformers. Thus, the surface area of Gal-NAc-GD1a is slightly lower than that of GD1a.²³¹

By addition of a sialic acid residue to the sialic acid of the β -GalNAc-(1-4)[α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)-]- β -Gal trisaccharide, as in GD1b and GT1b, the interresidual contacts between GalNAc and Neu5Ac linked to Gal are lost, while interactions occur between GalNAc and the external Neu5Ac. According to these constraints, the tetrasaccharide chain β -GalNAc-(1-4)[α -Neu5Ac-(2-8)- α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)-]- β -Gal is arranged in a circle with a hole about 3 Å wide in the center.²³⁰ The internal surface of this hole is highly hydrophobic since seven apolar groups point toward the center. Such a conformation confers a bulkier character to the ganglioside portion closer to the hydrophobic-hydrophilic interface and explains the larger value of surface area of GD1b in comparison to that of its isomer GD1a. It is interesting to note that the solid angle required by the disialosyl chain is wide enough to host an additional sialic acid unit in an external position. In fact, although GT1b carries one more sugar linked to the external galactose unit, it requires the same surface area as GD1b. Instead, when the external sialic acid carboxyl group esterifies the inner sialic acid residue, as in GD1b-lactone, the interresidual interactions between GalNAc and the external Neu5Ac no longer take place, while the compact conformation of the β -GalNAc-(1-4)[α -Neu5Ac-(2-3)-]- β -Gal observed in GM1 and GD1a is restored. This forces a better lining up of the disialosyl chain with the neutral oligosaccharide chain, reducing the angle between the neutral chain and the inner sialic acid axis²³⁰ and explains why geometrical parameters

of GD1b-lactone are closer to GD1a than GD1b. A scheme showing the conformational properties of ganglioside gly-cosidic linkages is reported in Figure 4.

According to their large hydrophilic headgroups and due to the small differences in the oligosaccharide structures, glycosphingolipids are good candidate to stabilize membrane lipid domains and subdomains²⁴¹ with positive curvature (Figure 5). The plasma membranes can be considered as a



Figure 5. Scheme of a membrane lipid domain enriched in glycosphingolipids. The localization of glycosphingolipids in the outer leaflet of membrane and the large surface area required by the glycosphingolipid monomer to remain inserted into the membrane require a positive curvature of the membrane. In this representation, in agreement with experimental observations,^{252,253} cholesterol would be mainly a component of the cytosolic inner leaflet of the membrane.

polymorph system where several lipid organizations can occur and where positive and negative surface curvatures are in sequence. An example of this is represented by *caveolae*,²⁴² flask-shaped invaginations of the plasma membrane (Figure 6), lacking the clathrin coating and characteristically enriched in proteins of the caveolin family.



Figure 6. Electron microscopy of MDCK cells. The arrow is in the direction of a caveolar invagination of 60-70 nm diameter.

Caveolae, being flask-shaped, have a negative curvature, thus in principle the presence of glycolipids that belong to the external layer of the plasma membranes is unfavored due to their large hydrophilic headgroups.¹²⁴ Data on the absence of gangliosides in these membranes have been reported.^{243,244} But the edges of the caveolae must have a strong positive curvature necessary to link up the invagination to the membrane, and this can be obtained with lipids that having very large hydrophilic headgroups show a geometry that is appropriate for a strong positive membrane curvature (Figure 7). This would explain why some reports suggested the presence of gangliosides in caveolae.²⁴⁵



Figure 7. Scheme representing a caveolar invagination. The enrichment of gangliosides at the edges allows the strong positive curvature necessary to link up the negative membrane to the flat membrane environment.

4.3. Side-by-Side Oligosaccharide Interactions and the Carbohydrate Water Shell

Clustering of glycosphingolipids in the membrane system is promoted by their headgroup large sizes, but other events must occur at the membrane surface able to stabilize the segregation. It has been suggested that clustering could be facilitated and stabilized by the formation of carbohydratecarbohydrate interactions. Nevertheless, while good information is available on the head-to-head interactions,²⁴⁶ data proving direct side-by-side oligosaccharide interactions are not available. The micellar aggregate of ganglioside was considered a good model to explore this by NMR spectroscopy.²²⁴ In fact at the micelle surface, a single monomer is so close to its neighbor at the level of their headgroups that inter-monomer carbohydrate-carbohydrate interactions could take place and be identified by NOE experiments. Nevertheless, no NOEs were observed between different monomers. In addition, no changes in the carbohydrate chain conformation were detected as an effect of the ganglioside-enriched environment. All this would exclude the presence of significant intermolecular side-by-side interactions capable of altering the "conformational information" carried by the single saccharidic chain of the ganglioside in the micellar model. This could be due to the large amount of water present in the hydrophilic layer.²⁴⁷ In fact, it should be noted that the actual environment of each monomer at the membrane hydrophilic layer includes solvent.²⁴⁷ Water is a natural component of the sugar shell being attracted by the hydrophilic character of sugars and by the necessity to avoid

repulsion between the negatively charged oligosaccharides.²⁴⁷ Calculations performed on GM2 micelles¹⁴⁸ indicated a difference of about 5 Å between the dry and hydrated micellar radius. The GM2 micelle is an oblate with ratio of 3.1 between the two axes, and the above value has been determined on an equivalent spherical micelle having the same mass to simplify calculation. This does not allow the number to be known but suggests that several molecules of water are interacting with the oligosaccharide chains. This is in agreement with data from calorimetric studies suggesting that each chain is surrounded by 40-70 water molecules.²⁴⁸ A strong interaction between water and GM1 sugars, sialic acid, and the inner galactose was observed by NMR.²²⁴ Water bridges between saccharides have been observed in hyaluronan where they were enough strong to determine and stabilize the tridimensional structure of the molecule.²⁴⁹ Of course these results and considerations would exclude any direct inter-monomer side-by-side carbohydrate interactions at the level of cell membrane but are in favor of a specific role of water in organizing a net of hydrogen bonds able to stabilize the glycosphingolipid clustering.

4.4. The Hydrogen Bond Network at the Lipid–Water Interface

The large differences in headgroup sizes favor clustering of some components in the membrane system; the oligosaccharide-water environment through intermolecular water bridges can stabilize the segregation, but other events much more relevant must occur at the membrane surface to allow and to maintain the membrane lipid domains. This statement derives from the facts that (a) membrane lipid domains exist and are rich in cholesterol, as usual, also in plasma membranes of cells that have a low amount of or are lacking glycosphingolipids,²⁵⁰ (b) membrane lipid domains very rich in cholesterol and caveolin proteins but with a very low content of neutral glycosphingolipids and no content of ganglioside GM3 have been separated from ganglioside-rich domains starting from the total lipid domain fraction prepared from mouse melanoma B16 cells,²⁴³ and (c) immunolocalization of ganglioside GM3 on the plasma membranes of fibroblasts, where this ganglioside is the main cell ganglioside, showed that it was not a component of the caveolae, membrane invaginations belonging to the DRM fraction.²⁴⁴ Information on membrane lipid domains in the absence of sphingomyelin is not available. Sphingomyelin is always one of the main sphingolipid components of cell membranes, thus we can say that the ceramide moiety of sphingolipids is always present in the cell membranes, as a moiety of sphingomyelin or as a moiety of both sphingomyelin and glycosphingolipids.

There is a general consensus on a pivotal role played by the water/lipid interface of sphingolipids in promoting the stabilization and formation of membrane lipid domains. The amide group of ceramide is a rigid group comprising six atoms in a planar conformation. The group has a perpendicular orientation toward the axes of the two hydrocarbon chains, the parallel orientation of which is stabilized by the presence of a double bond at position 4-5 of sphingosine.^{171,251} Thus, the ceramide moiety can be considered a rigid structure, and addition of glycosphingolipids to cells was shown to reduce the original membrane fluidity.¹²⁶ The characteristic presence of a hydroxyl group at position 2 of the amide linkage and of the carbonyl oxygen enables sphingolipids to form hydrogen bonds, acting as hydrogen bond donors and acceptors at the same time. Therefore, this feature allows sphingolipids to form a stable net of interactions. This is a unique feature of sphingolipids within the all complex lipids. In fact, glycerophospholipids can act only as acceptors of hydrogen bonds, and cholesterol has very limited capacity to form hydrogen bonds. The van der Waals forces between hydrocarbon chains have been estimated to about 2-3 kcal per hydrocarbon chain. The formation of hydrogen bonds at the water/lipid interface contributes with 3–10 kcal to the lipid–lipid interaction. Thus, the orientation of the hydrogen bond donor and acceptor groups of sphingolipids optimal to form lateral interactions and the considerable increase of stability in the lipid association are very good candidates to promote the formation of a membrane rigid zone where a network of hydrogen bond connected lipids are segregated together with cholesterol.

5. Conclusions

Sphingolipids are components of the membranes of all living organism cells. They are abundant in the plasma membranes and show a strong amphiphilic character, being constituted by a two-tail hydrophobic moiety, ceramide, and a very structurally variable hydrophilic headgroup. With ceramide inserted into the external leaflet of the plasma membrane, their hydrophilic headgroups protrude into the extracellular environment, where they can interact with external ligands or with the soluble portion of membrane proteins. Theoretical considerations about the peculiar physicochemical properties of sphingolipids and experimental data suggest that they play an active role in the biogenesis and maintenance of membrane lipid domains, zones of the membrane with reduced fluidity, where proteins involved in processes of cell signaling are segregated and can exert their properties. Moreover, the ability of these molecules to directly interact with membrane proteins suggests that sphingolipids, in general, and glycosphingolipids, in particular, play an important additional role in modulating domain dynamics and functions.

6. Acknowledgment

This work was supported by COFIN-PRIN (Grants 2002, 2003, and 2004), FIRB (2003) Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (PF Biotechnology), and FIRST (2002–2005), Italy.

7. References

- (1) Singer, S. J.; Nicolson, G. L. Science 1972, 75, 720.
- (2) Munro S. Cell 2003, 115, 377.
- (3) Razza, Q.; Tahir, M.; Ozegbe, P.; Jury, E. C.; Sembi, P.; Blackwell, N. M.; Kabouridis, P. S. *Immunology* **2004**, *113*, 413.
- (4) Glebov, O. O.; Nichols, B. J. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2004, 32, 673.
- (5) Glebov, O. O.; Nichols, B. J. Nat. Cell Biol. 2004, 6, 238.
- (6) Lin, J.; Shaw, A. S. Cell 2005, 121, 815.
- (7) Pieitianen, V. M.; Marjomaki, V.; Heino, J.; Hyypia, T. Ann. Med. 2005, 37, 394.
- (8) Touyz, R. M. Hypertension 2006, 47, 16.
- (9) Lafont, F.; van der Goot, F. G. Cell. Microbiol. 2005, 7, 613.
- (10) Barnett-Norris, J.; Lynch, D.; Reggio, P. H. Life Sci. 2005, 77, 1625.
- (11) Langhorst, M. F.; Reuter, A.; Stuermer, C. A. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 2005, 62, 2228.
- (12) Kenworthy, A. K. J. Invest. Med. 2005, 53, 312.
- (13) Li, X. A.; Everson, W. V.; Smart, E. J. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 2005, 15, 92.
- (14) Hommelgaard, A. M.; Roepstorff, K.; Vilhardt, F.; Torgersen, M. L.; Sandvig, K.; van Deurs, B. *Traffic* **2005**, *6*, 720.
- (15) Insel, P. A.; Head, B. P.; Ostrom, R. S.; Patel, H. H.; Swaney, J. S.; Tang, C. M.; Roth, D. M. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2005, 1047, 166.

- (16) Hasler, P.; Zouali, M. Cell. Immunol. 2005, 233, 102.
- (17) Hinrichs, J. W.; Klappe, K.; Kok, J. W. J. Membr. Biol. 2005, 203,
- (18) Martin, S. W.; Glover, B. J.; Davies, J. M. Trends Plant Sci. 2005, 10, 263.
- (19) van Meer, G.; Vaz, W. L. EMBO Rep. 2005, 6, 418.
- (20) Rodgers, W.; Smith, K. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 2005, 25, 19.
- (21) Horejsi, V. Microbes Infect. 2005, 7, 310.
- (22) Ishitsuka, R.; Sato, S. B.; Kobayashi, T. J. Biochem. 2005, 137, 249.
- (23) Lagerholm, B. C.; Weinreb, G. E.; Jacobson, K.; Thompson, N. L. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 2005, 56, 309.
- (24) Hooper, N. M. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2005, 33, 335.
- (25) Rajendran, L.; Simons, K. J. Cell Sci. 2005, 118, 1099.
- (26) Rodgers, W.; Farris, D.; Mishra, S. Trends Immunol. 2005, 26, 97.
- (27) O'Shea, P. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London, Ser. A 2005, 363, 575.
- (28) He, H. T.; Lellouch, A.; Marguet, D. Semin. Immunol. 2005, 17, 23.
- (29) Chen, Y.; Yang, B.; Jacobson, K. Lipids 2004, 39, 1115.
- (30) Sangiorgio, V.; Pitto, M.; Palestini, P.; Masserini, M. Ital. J. Biochem. 2004, 53, 98.
- (31) Schuck, S.; Simons, K. J. Cell Sci. 2004, 117, 5955.
- (32) Mukherjee, S.; Maxfield, F. R. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2004, 20, 839.
- (33) Nayak, D. P.; Hui, E. K. Subcell. Biochem. 2004, 37, 443.
- (34) Resh, M. D. Subcell. Biochem. 2004, 37, 217.
- (35) Barenholz, Y. Subcell. Biochem. 2004, 37, 167.
- (36) Lommerse, P. H.; Spaink, H. P.; Schmidt, T. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2004, 1664, 119.
- (37) Laude, A. J.; Prior, I. A. Mol. Membr. Biol. 2004, 21, 193.
- (38) Gulbins, E.; Dreschers, S.; Wilker, B.; Grassme, H. J. Mol. Med. 2004, 82, 357.
- (39) Fullekrug, J.; Simons, K. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2004, 1014, 164.
- (40) Simons, K.; Vaz, W. L. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 2004, 33, 269.
- (41) Kahya, N.; Scherfeld, D.; Bacia, K.; Schwille, P. J. Struct. Biol. 2004, 147, 77.
- (42) Chini, B.; Parenti, M. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 2004, 32, 325.
- (43) Zuckermann, M. J.; Ipsen, J. H.; Miao, L.; Mouritsen, O. G.; Nielsen, M.; Polson, J.; Thewalt, J.; Vattulainen, I.; Zhu, H. *Methods Enzymol.* 2004, 383, 198.
- (44) Leidy, C.; Gousset, K.; Ricker, J.; Wolkers, W. F.; Tsvetkova, N. M.; Tablin, F.; Crowe, J. H. Cell Biochem. Biophys. 2004, 40, 123.
- (45) Harder, T.; Engelhardt, K. R. Traffic 2004, 5, 265.
- (46) Salaun, C.; James, D. J.; Chamberlain, L. H. Traffic 2004, 5, 255.
- (47) Helms, J. B.; Zurzolo, C. *Traffic* **2004**, *5*, 247.
- (48) Devaux, P. F.; Morris, R. Traffic 2004, 5, 241.
- (49) Parton, R. G.; Hancock, J. F. Trends Cell Biol. 2004, 14, 141.
- (50) Chamberlain, L. H. FEBS Lett. 2004, 559, 1.
- (51) Fielding, C. J.; Fielding, P. E. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2004, 32, 65.
- (52) Thudichum, J. L. W. A treatise on the chemical constitution of the brain; Bailliere, Tindall and Cox: London, 1884.
- (53) Yamakawa, T. Glycoconjugate J. 1996, 13, 123.
- (54) Carter, H. E.; Glick, F. J.; Norris, W. P.; Phillips, G. E. J. Biol. Chem. **1947**, *170*, 285.
- (55) Feizi, T. Nature 1985, 314, 53.
- (56) Caputto, R.; Maccioni, A. H. R.; Caputto, B. I. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1977, 74, 1046.
- (57) Partington, C. R.; Daly, J. W. Mol. Pharmacol. 1979, 15, 484.
- (58) Davis, C. W.; Daly, J. W. Mol. Pharmacol. 1980, 17, 206.
- (59) Leon, A.; Facci, L.; Toffano, G.; Sonnino, S.; Tettamanti G. J. Neurochem. 1981, 37, 350.
- (60) Bremer, E. G.; Hakomori, S. I.; Bowen-Pope, D. F.; Raines, E.; Ross, R. J. Biol. Chem. 1984, 259, 6818.
- (61) Goldenring, J. R.; Otis, L. C.; Yu, R. K.; DeLorenzo, R. J. J. Neurochem. 1985, 44, 1229.
- (62) Kim, J. Y. H.; Goldenring, J. R.; DeLorenzo, R. J.; Yu, R. K. J. Neurosci. Res. 1986, 15, 159.
- (63) Kreutter, D.; Kim, J. Y. H.; Goldenring, J. R.; Rasmussen, H.; Ukomadu, C.; DeLorenzo, R. J.; Yu, R. K. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 1633.
- (64) Chan, K. F. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, 263, 568.
- (65) Chan, K. F. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 18632.
- (66) Yates, A. J.; Walters, J. D.; Wood, C. L.; Johnson, D. J. Neurochem. 1989, 53, 162.
- (67) Bassi, R.; Chigorno, V.; Fiorilli, A.; Sonnino, S.; Tettamanti, G. J. Neurochem. 1991, 57, 1207.
- (68) Rybak, S.; Ginzburg, I.; Yavin, E. Biochim. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1983, 116, 974.
- (69) Morgan, J. I.; Seifert, W. J. Supramol. Struct. 1979, 10, 111.
- (70) Roisen, F. J.; Bartfeld, H.; Nagele, R.; Yorke, G. Science **1981**, 214, 577.
- (71) Tsuji, S.; Arita, M.; Nagai, Y. J. Biochem. 1983, 94, 303.
- (72) Facci, L.; Leon, A.; Toffano, G.; Sonnino, S.; Ghidoni, R.; Tettamanti, G. J. Neurochem. **1984**, 42, 299.

- (73) Karlsson, K. A. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1970, 5, 6.
- (74) Carter, H. E.; Rothfus, J. A.; Gigg, R. J. Lipid Res. 1961, 2, 228
- (75) Schauer, R. Sialic acids. Chemistry, metabolism and function; Springer-Verlag: Wien, New York, 1982.
- (76) Yu, R. K.; Ledeen, R. W. J. Lipid Res. 1972, 13, 680.
- (77) Kamerling, J. P.; Vliegenthart, J. F. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1975, *41*, 7.
 (78) Ghidoni, R.; Sonnino, S.; Tettamanti, G.; Baumann, N.; Reuter, G.; Schauer, R. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1980, *255*, 6990.
- (79) Chigorno, V.; Sonnino, S.; Ghidoni, R.; Tettamanti, G. Neurochem. Int. 1982, 4, 531.
- (80) Riboni, L.; Sonnino, S.; Acquotti, D.; Malesci, A.; Ghidoni, R.; Egge, H.; Mingrino, S.; Tettamanti, G. J. Biol. Chem. 1986, 261, 8514.
- (81) Simons, K.; Ikonen, E. Nature 1997, 387, 569.
- (82) Brown, D. A.; Rose, J. K. Cell 1992, 68, 533.
- (83) Kurzchalia, T. V.; Parton, R. G. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 1999, 11, 424.
- (84) Okada, Y.; Mugnai, G.; Bremer, E. G.; Hakomori, S. *Exp. Cell Res.* 1984, 155, 448.
- (85) Harder, T.; Simons, K. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 1997, 9, 534.
- (86) Gkantiragas, I.; Brugger, B.; Stuven, E.; Kaloyanova, D.; Li, X. Y.; Lohr, K.; Lottspeich, F.; Wieland, F. T.; Helms, J. B. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **2001**, *12*, 1819.
- (87) Prinetti, A.; Chigorno, V.; Tettamanti, G.; Sonnino, S. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 11658.
- (88) Hakomori, S. Glycoconjugate J. 2000, 17, 627.
- (89) Brown, D. A.; London, E. J. Membr. Biol. 1998, 164, 103.
- (90) Ruocco, M. J.; Shipley, G. G.; Oldfield, E. Biophys. J. 1983, 43, 91.
- (91) Tinker, D. O.; Pinteric, L.; Hsia, J. C.; Rand, R. P. Can. J. Biochem. 1976, 54, 209.
- (92) Correa-Freire, M. C.; Freire, E.; Barenholz, Y.; Biltonen, R. L.; Thompson, T. E. Biochemistry 1979, 18, 442.
- (93) Cestaro, B.; Cervato, G.; Di Silvestro, G.; Sozzani, P.; Berra, B. *Ital. J. Biochem.* **1981**, *30*, 430.
- (94) Masserini, M.; Freire, E. Biochemistry 1986, 25, 1043.
- (95) Masserini, M.; Palestini, P.; Venerando, B.; Fiorilli, A.; Acquotti, D.; Tettamanti, G. *Biochemistry* **1988**, *27*, 7973.
- (96) Masserini, M.; Palestini, P.; Freire, E. Biochemistry 1989, 28, 5029.
- (97) Terzaghi, A.; Tettamanti, G.; Masserini, M. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 9722.
- (98) Snyder, B.; Freire, E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1980, 77, 4055.(99) Ferraretto, A.; Pitto, M.; Palestini, P.; Masserini, M. Biochemistry
- (99) Fertaletto, A., Fitto, M., Falestini, F., Masserini, M. *Biochemistry* **1997**, *36*, 9232.
- (100) Veiga, M. P.; Arrondo, J. L.; Goni, F. M.; Alonso, A. *Biophys. J.* 1999, 76, 342.
- (101) Rock, P.; Allietta, M.; Young, W. W. Jr.; Thompson, T. E.; Tillack, T. W. *Biochemistry* **1991**, *30*, 19.
- (102) Tillack, T. W.; Wong, M.; Allietta M.; Thompson, T. E. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1982, 691, 261.
- (103) Rock, P.; Allietta, M.; Young, W. W. Jr.; Thompson, T. E.; Tillack, T. W. Biochemistry **1990**, *29*, 8484.
- (104) Thompson, T. E.; Allietta, M.; Brown, R. E.; Johnson, M. L.; Tillack, T. W. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1985, 817 (2), 229.
- (105) Palestini, P.; Allietta, M.; Sonnino, S.; Tettamanti, G.; Thompson, T. E.; Tillack, T. W. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1995, 1235, 221.
- (106) Correa-Freire, M. C.; Barenholz, Y.; Thompson, T. E. *Biochemistry* 1982, 21, 1244.
- (107) Gambale, F.; Robello, M.; Usai, C.; Marchetti, C. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1982**, *693*, 165.
- (108) Cestaro, B.; Cervato, G.; Marchesini, S.; Viani, P.; Pistolesi, E.; Oliva, C. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1983, 33, 251.
- (109) Veatch, S. L.; Keller, S. L. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2005, 94, 148101.
- (110) Kahya, N.; Scherfeld, D.; Bacia, K.; Poolman, B.; Schwille, P. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 28109.
- (111) Kenworthy, A. K.; Petranova, N.; Edidin, M. Mol. Biol. Cell 2000, 11, 1645.
- (112) Holopainen, J. M.; Subramanian, M.; Kinnunen, P. K. *Biochemistry* **1998**, *37*, 17562.
- (113) Holopainen, J. M.; Metso, A. J.; Mattila, J. P.; Jutila, A.; Kinnunen, P. K. *Biophys. J.* **2004**, *86*, 1510.
- (114) Holopainen, J. M.; Angelova, M. I.; Kinnunen, P. K. *Biophys. J.* **2000**, 78, 830.
- (115) Dietrich, C.; Volovyk, Z. N.; Levi, M.; Thompson, N. L.; Jacobson, K. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2001, 98, 10642.
- (116) Hsueh, Y. W.; Giles, R.; Kitson, N.; Thewalt, J. Biophys. J. 2002, 82, 3089.
- (117) Gawrisch, K.; Barry, J. A.; Holte, L. L.; Sinnwell, T.; Bergelson, L. D.; Ferretti, J. A. Mol. Membr. Biol. 1995, 12, 83.
- (118) Grant, C. W.; Wu, S. H.; McConnell, H. M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1974, 363, 151.
- (119) Knoll, W.; Schmidt, G.; Rotzer, H.; Henkel, T.; Pfeiffer, W.; Sackmann, E.; Mittler-Neher, S.; Spinke, J. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* **1991**, 57, 363.

- (120) Thompson, T. E.; Tillack, T. W. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biophys. Chem. 1985, 14, 361.
- (121) Bunow, M. R.; Levin, I. W. 1980, 32, 1007.
- (122) Skarjune, R.; Oldfield, E. Biochemistry 1982, 21, 3154.
- (123) Barenholz, Y.; Freire, E.; Thompson, T. E.; Correa-Freire, M. C.; Bach, D.; Miller, I. R. *Biochemistry* **1983**, 22, 3497.
- (124) Sonnino, S.; Cantù, L.; Corti, M.; Acquotti, D.; Venerando, B. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1994, 71, 21.
- (125) Sharom, F. J.; Grant, C. W. M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1978, 507, 280.
- (126) Bertoli, E.; Masserini, M.; Sonnino, S.; Ghidoni, R.; Cestaro, B.; Tettamanti, G. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1981**, 647, 196.
- (127) Tettamanti, G.; Preti, A.; Cestaro, B.; Masserini, M.; Sonnino, S.; Ghidoni, R. Gangliosides and associated enzymes at the nerve-ending membranes. In *Cell surface glycolipids*; Sweeley C. C., Ed.; ACS Symposium Series 128; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1980.
- (128) Bunow, M. R.; Bunow, B. Biophys. J. 1979, 27, 325.
- (129) Hinz, H. J.; Korner, O.; Nicolau, C. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1981, 643, 557.
- (130) Lee, P. M.; Ketis, N. V.; Barber, K. R.; Grant, C. W. *Biophys. Acta* **1980**, *601*, 302.
- (131) Sharom, F. J.; Grant, C. W. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1977, 74, 1039.
- (132) Sillerud, L. O.; Schafer, D. E.; Yu, R. K.; Konigsberg, W. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1979, 254, 10876.
- (133) Rock, P.; Allietta, M.; Thompson, T. E.; Tillack, T. W. J. Cell Biol. 1988, 107, 207a.
- (134) Tillack, T. W.; Allietta, M.; Rock, P.; Young, W. W.; Thompson, T. E. J. Cell Biol. 1988, 107, 778a.
- (135) Sonnino, S.; Kirschner, G.; Ghidoni, R.; Acquotti, D.; Tettamanti, G. J. Lipid Res. 1985, 26, 248.
- (136) Masserini, M.; Palestini, P.; Pitto, M.; Chigorno, V.; Sonnino, S. Methods Mol. Biol. 2002, 199, 17.
- (137) Holopainen, J. M.; Angelova, M.; Kinnunen, P. K. *Methods Enzymol.* 2003, 367, 15.
- (138) Goins, B.; Masserini, M.; Barisas, B. G.; Freire, E. *Biophys. J.* **1986**, *49*, 849.
- (139) Palestini, P.; Masserini, M.; Tettamanti, G. FEBS Lett. 1994, 350, 219.
- (140) Bar, L. K.; Barenholz, Y.; Thompson, T. E. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 2507.
- (141) Holopainen, J. M.; Lehtonen, J. Y.; Kinnunen, P. K. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1997, 88, 1.
- (142) Carrer, D. C.; Maggio, B. J. Lipid Res. 1999, 40, 1978.
- (143) Almeida, P. F.; Vaz, W. L.; Thompson, T. E. Biochemistry 1992, 31, 6739.
- (144) Sankaram, M. B.; Thompson, T. E. Biochemistry 1990, 29, 10670.
- (145) Cremesti, A. E.; Goni, F. M.; Kolesnick, R. FEBS Lett. 2002, 531, 47.
- (146) Ruiz-Arguello, M. B.; Goni, F. M.; Alonso, A. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 22977.
- (147) Montes, L. R.; Ruiz-Arguello, M. B.; Goni, F. M.; Alonso, A. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 11788.
- (148) Cantù, L.; Corti, M.; Sonnino, S.; Tettamanti, G. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1990, 55, 223.
- (149) Cantù, L.; Corti, M.; Casellato, R.; Acquotti, D.; Sonnino, S. Chem Phys. Lipids **1991**, 60, 111.
- (150) Lund-Katz, S.; Laboda, H. M.; McLean, L. R.; Phillips, M. C. Biochemistry 1988, 27, 3416.
- (151) Bittman, R.; Kasireddy, C. R.; Mattjus, P.; Slotte, J. P. *Biochemistry* 1994, 33, 11776.
- (152) Li, X. M.; Momsen, M. M.; Smaby, J. M.; Brockman, H. L.; Brown, R. E. Biochemistry 2001, 40, 5954.
- (153) Li, X. M.; Momsen, M. M., Brockman, H. L.; Brown, R. E. *Biophys. J.* 2003, *85*, 3788.
- (154) Mattjus, P.; Bittman, R.; Vilcheze, C.; Slotte, J. P. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1995, 1240, 237.
- (155) Mattjus, P.; Slotte, J. P. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1996, 81, 69.
- (156) Radhakrishnan, A.; Anderson, T. G.; McConnell, H. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2000, 97, 12422.
- (157) Weis, R. M. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1991, 57, 227.
- (158) Ramstedt, B.; Slotte, J. P. Biophys. J. 1999, 76, 908.
- (159) Ohvo-Rekila, H.; Ramstedt, B.; Leppimaki, P.; Slotte, J. P. Prog. Lipid Res. 2002, 41, 66.
- (160) McConnell, H. M.; Radhakrishnan, A. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2003, 1610, 159.
- (161) Tokomasu, F.; Jin A. J.; Dvorak, J. A. J. Electron Microsc. 2002, 51, 1.
- (162) Milhiet, P. E.; Domec, C.; Giocondi, M. C.; Van Mau, N.; Heitz, F.; Le Grimellec, C. *Biophys. J.* **2001**, *81*, 547.
- (163) Lawrence, J. C.; Sasłowsky, D. E.; Edwardson, J. M.; Henderson, R. M. Biophys. J. 2003, 84, 1827.

- (164) Yuan, C.; Johnston, L. J. Biophys. J. 2001, 81, 1059.
- (165) Rinia, H. A.; Snel M. M.; van der Eerden, J. P.; de Kruijff, B. FEBS Lett. 2001, 501, 92.
- (166) Milhiet, P. E.; Giocondi, M. C.; Le Grimellec, C. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 875.
- (167) Saslowsky, D. E.; Lawrence, J.; Ren, X.; Brown, D. A.; Henderson, R. M.; Edwardson, J. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 26966.
- (168) Kaasgaard, T.; Mouritsen, O. G.; Jorgensen, K. FEBS Lett. 2002, 515, 29.
- (169) Giocondi, M. C.; Milhiet, P. E.; Dosset, P.; Le Grimellec, C. Biophys. J. 2004, 86 (2), 861.
- (170) Rinia, H. A.; de Kruijff, B. FEBS Lett. 2001, 504, 194.
- (171) Hakomori, S.; Handa, K.; Iwabuchi, K.; Yamamura, S.; Prinetti, A. *Glycobiology* **1998**, *8*, xi.
- (172) Tillack, T. W.; Allietta, M.; Moran, R. E.; Young, W. W., Jr. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1983, 733, 15.
- (173) Rahmann, H.; Rosner, H.; Kortje, K. H.; Beitinger, H.; Seybold, V. Prog. Brain Res. **1994**, 101, 127.
- (174) Sorice, M.; Parolini, I.; Sansolini, T.; Garofalo, T.; Dolo, V.; Sargiacomo, M.; Tai, T.; Peschle, C.; Torrisi, M. R.; Pavan, A. J. Lipid Res. 1997, 38, 969.
- (175) Saxton, M. J.; Jacobson, K. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 1997, 26, 373.
- (176) Jacobson, K.; Sheets, E. D.; Simson, R. Science 1995, 268, 1441.
- (177) Sheets, E. D.; Lee, G. M.; Simson, R.; Jacobson, K. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 12449.
- (178) Varma, R.; Mayor, S. Nature 1998, 394, 798.
- (179) Pralle, A.; Keller, P.; Florin, E. L.; Simons, K.; Horber, J. K. J. Cell Biol. 2000, 148, 997.
- (180) Poole, K.; Meder, D.; Simons, K.; Muller, D. FEBS Lett. 2004, 565, 53.
- (181) Schütz, G. J.; Kada, G.; Pastushenko, V. P.; Schindler, H. *EMBO J.* 2000, *19*, 892.
- (182) Taylor, C. M.; Coetzee, T.; Pfeiffer, S. E. J. Neurochem. 2002, 81, 993.
- (183) Fiedler, K.; Kobayashi, T.; Kurzchalia, T. V.; Simons, K. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 6365.
- (184) Kim, T.; Pfeiffer, S. E. J. Neurocyt. 1999, 28, 281.
- (185) Simons, M.; Kramer, E. M.; Thiele, C.; Stoffel, W.; Trotter, J. J. Cell Biol. 2000, 151, 143.
- (186) Roper, K.; Corbeil, D.; Huttner, W. B. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2000**, *2*, 582. (187) Sargiacomo, M.; Sudol, M.; Tang, Z.; Lisanti, M. P. J. Cell Biol.
- **1993**, *122*, 789. (188) Zurzolo; C.; van't Hof, W.; van Meer, G.; Rodriguez-Boulan, E.
- (100) Zarzoto, C., van trior, w., van wieer, G.; Kounguez-Boulan, E EMBO J. **1994**, 13, 42.
- (189) Sorice, M.; Parolini, I.; Sansolini, T.; Garofalo, T.; Dolo, V.; Sargiacomo, M.; Tai, T.; Peschle, C.; Torrisi, M. R.; Pavan, A. J. Lipid Res. 1997, 38, 969.
- (190) Fra, A. M.; Williamson, E.; Simons, K.; Parton, R. G. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 30745.
- (191) Iwabuchi, K.; Nagaoka, I. Blood 2002, 100, 1454.
- (192) Waheed, A. A.; Shimada, Y.; Heijnen, H. F.; Nakamura, M.; Inomata, M.; Hayashi, M.; Iwashita, S.; Slot, J. W.; Ohno-Iwashita, Y. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2001, 98, 4926.
- (193) Samuel, B. U.; Mohandas, N.; Harrison, T.; McManus, H.; Rosse, W.; Reid, M.; Haldar, K. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 29319.
- (194) Mendez, A. J.; Lin, G.; Wade, D. P.; Lawn, R. M.; Oram, J. F. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 3158.
- (195) Ledesma, M. D.; Simons, K.; Dotti, C. G. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 3966.
- (196) Kasahara, K.; Watanabe, K.; Takeuchi, K.; Kaneko, H.; Oohira, A.; Yamamoto, T.; Sanai, Y. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 34701.
- (197) Shogomori, H.; Futerman, A. H. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 9182.
- (198) Vey, M.; Pilkuhn, S.; Wille, H.; Nixon, R.; DeArmond, S. J.; Smart, E. J.; Anderson, R. G.; Taraboulos, A.; Prusiner, S. B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1996**, *93*, 14945.
- (199) Naslavsky, N.; Stein, R.; Yanai, A.; Friedlander, G.; Taraboulos, A. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 6324.
- (200) Prinetti, A.;. Iwabuchi, K.; Hakomori, S. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 20916.
- (201) Kubler, E.; Dohlman, H. G.; Lisanti, M. P. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 32975.
- (202) Zhang, X.; Thompson, G. A., Jr. Biochem. J. 1997, 323, 197.
- (203) Lisanti, M. P.; Scherer, P. E.; Vidugiriene, J.; Tang, Z.; Hermanowski-Vosatka, A.; Tu, Y. H.; Cook, R. F.; Sargiacomo, M. J. Cell Biol. 1994, 126, 111.
- (204) Chang, W. J.; Ying, Y. S.; Rothberg, K. G.; Hooper, N. M.; Turner, A. J.; Gambliel, H. A.; De Gunzburg, J.; Mumby, S. M.; Gilman, A. G.; Anderson, R. G. *J. Cell Biol.* **1994**, *126*, 127.
- (205) Kasahara, K.; Watanabe, Y.; Yamamoto, T.; Sanai, Y. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 29947.
- (206) Madore, N.; Smith, K. L.; Graham, C. H.; Jen, A.; Brady, K.; Hall, S.; Morris, R. *EMBO J.* **1999**, *18*, 6917.

- (207) Parkin, E. T.; Turner, A. J.; Hooper, N. M. Biochem. J. 1999, 344, 23.
- (208) Kawabuchi, M.; Satomi, Y.; Takao, T.; Shimonishi, Y.; Nada, S.; Nagai, K.; Tarakhovsky, A.; Okada, M. *Nature* **2000**, *404*, 999.
- (209) Parkin, E. T.; Turner, A. J.; Hooper, N. M. Biochem. J. 2001, 358, 209.
- (210) Song, K. S.; Li Shengwen Okamoto, T.; Quilliam, L. A.; Sargiacomo, M.; Lisanti, M. P. J. Biol. Chem. **1996**, 271, 9690.
- (211) Smart, E. J.; Ying, Y. S.; Mineo, C.; Anderson, R. G. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1995, 92, 10104.
- (212) Iwabuchi, K.; Handa, K.; Hakomori, S. J. Biol. Chem. **1998**, 273, 33766.
- (213) Hansen, G. H.; Immerdal, L.; Thorsen, E.; Niels-Christiansen L. L.; Nystrom, B. T.; Demant, E. J.; Danielsen, E. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 32338.
- (214) Prinetti, A.; Chigorno, V.; Prioni, S.; Loberto, N.; Marano, N.; Tettamanti, G.; Sonnino, S. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 21136.
- (215) Pitto, M.; Parenti, M.; Guzzi, F.; Magni, F.; Palestini, P.; Ravasi, D.; Masserini, M. Neurochem. Res. 2002, 27, 729.
- (216) Maggio, B.; Ariga, T.; Sturtevant, J. M.; Yu, R. K. Biochemistry 1985, 24, 1084.
- (217) Cantù, L.; Corti, M.; Del Favero, E.; Muller, E.; Raudino, A.; Sonnino, S. *Langmuir* **1999**, *15*, 4975.
- (218) Moiana, A. Thesis, Faculty of Science, University of Milan, 1997.
- (219) Koynova, R.; Caffrey, M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1995, 1255, 213.
- (220) Acquotti, D.; Poppe, L.; Dabrowski, J.; von der Lieth, G. W.; Sonnino, S.; Tettamanti, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7772.
- (221) Brocca, P.; Cantù, L.; Sonnino, S. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* **1995**, *77*, 41. (222) Sonnino, S.; Cantù, L.; Corti, M.; Acquotti, D.; Kirschner, G.;
- Tettamanti, G. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1990, 56, 49–57.
- (223) Poppe, L.; van Halbeek, H.; Acquotti, D.; Sonnino, S. *Biophys. J.* 1994, 66, 1642.
- (224) Brocca, P.; Berthault, P.; Sonnino, S. Biophys. J. 1998, 74, 309.
- (225) Siebert, H. C.; Reuter, G.; Schauer, R.; von der Lieth, C. W.; Dabrowski, J. *Biochemistry* 1992, 31, 6962.
- (226) Brocca, P.; Acquotti, D.; Sonnino, S. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1996**, *13*, 57.
- (227) Sebasan, S.; Bock, K.; Lemieux, R. U. Can. J. Chem. 1984, 62, 1034.
- (228) Scarsdale, J. N.; Prestegard, J. H.; Yu, R. K. Biochemistry 1990, 29, 9843.
- (229) Levery, S. B. Glycoconjugate J. 1991, 8, 484.
- (230) Acquotti, D.; Fronza, G.; Ragg, E.; Sonnino, S. Chem. Phys. Lipids. 1991 59, 107.
- (231) Acquotti, D.; Cantù, L.; Ragg, E.; Sonnino, S. Eur. J. Biochem. 1994, 225, 271.
- (232) Brocca, P.; Acquotti, D.; Sonnino, S. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1993**, *10*, 441.
- (233) Sebasan, S.; Duus, J. Ø.; Fukunaga, T.; Bock, K.; Ludvigsen S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3236.
- (234) Wiegandt, H. New Compr. Biochem. 1985, 10, 199.
- (235) Skarjune, R.; Oldfield, E. Biochemistry 1982, 21, 3154.
- (236) Jarrell, H. C.; Jovall, P. A.; Giziewicz, J. B.; Turner, L. A.; Smith, I. C. *Biochemistry* **1987**, *26*, 1805.
- (237) Nyholm, P.G.; Pascher, I. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 1225.
- (238) Aubin, Y.; Prestegard, J. H. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 3422.
- (239) Christian, R.; Schulz, G.; Brandstetter, H. H.; Zbiral, E. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1987**, *162*, 1.
- (240) Poppe, L.; Dabrowski, J.; von der Lieth, C. W.; Numata, M.; Ogawa, T. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1989**, *180*, 337.
- (241) Vyas, KA.; Patel, H. V.; Vyas, A. A.; Schnaar, R. L. Biol. Chem. 2001, 382, 241.
- (242) Fielding, C. J. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 2001, 12, 281.
- (243) Iwabuchi, K.; Yamamura, S.; Prinetti, A.; Handa, K.; Hakomori, S. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 9130.
- (244) Chigorno, V.; Palestini, P.; Sciannamblo, M. T.; Dolo, V.; Pavan, A.; Tettamanti, G.; Sonnino, S. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **2000**, 267, 4187.
- (245) Parton, R. G. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 1994, 42, 155.
- (246) Hakomori, S.-I., Ed. Glycoconjugate J. 2004, 21, 87.
- (247) Ha, J. H.; Spolar, R. S.; Record, M. T., Jr. J. Mol. Biol. 1989, 209, 801.
- (248) Bach, D.; Sela, B.; Miller, I. R. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1982, 31, 381.
- (249) Heatley, F.; Scott, J. E. Biochem. J. 1988, 254, 489.
- (250) Ostermeyer, A. G. et al. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 34459.
- (251) Pascher, I. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1976, 455, 433.
- (252) Schroeder, F.; Nemecz, G.; Wood, W. G.; Joiner, C.; Morrot, G.; Ayraut-Jarrier, M.; Devaux, P. F. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr.* 1991, 1066, 183.
- (253) Igbavboa, U.; Avdulov, N. A.; Chochina, S. V.; Wood, W. G. J. Neurochem. 1997, 69, 1661.
- (254) Svennerholm, L. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1980, 125, 11.
- (255) IUPAC-IUB Joint Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature (JCBN). Eur. J. Biochem. 1998, 257, 293.

CR0100446